IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RALSTON DAVIS,)
Appellant,))
VS.) CASE NO. SC10-13:
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellee.))
)

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida (Broward County)

CAREY HAUGHWOUT
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600

Paul E. Petillo Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 508438 ppetillo@pd15.state.fl.us Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Jurisdictional Statement

Ralston Davis was charged by indictment with first degree murder of Myosha Proby (count I), Ravindra Basdeo (count II), and Carlos Jones (count III). R1 10-11. He entered a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity. R2 277-79. The jury found him guilty of all three counts. R4 606-11; T20 2493-95. The jury recommended death on count I by an 8 to 4 vote, and life imprisonment on counts II and III. R4 665-67; T25 2951. The court followed the recommendations. R5 790-806; T27 3032. The court found CCP, HAC, contemporaneous conviction of a violent felony, and commission of burglary in aggravation, and numerous mitigating circumstances, including four statutory mitigators: extreme mental or emotional disturbance, impaired capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct, no significant criminal history, and age at the time of the crime (Davis was 21). *Id.* Motion for new trial was denied, and sentence was imposed January 7, 2010. R5 681, 790, 807. Notice of appeal was filed January 19, 2010. R5 807.

B. State's Case

The state showed without question that Davis shot and killed Proby at her apartment, then went to a gas station where he killed Basdeo and Jones. Although Davis knew Proby, there was no discernible motive for her murder. Davis made vague (and at times unintelligible) statements about being on a "mission," and that

she "betray[ed] him" or "set [him] up." Davis did not know Basdeo and Jones and they were apparently killed at random.

1. Davis jumps on top of his car and fires shots into the air at the intersection of NW 31st Avenue and Sunrise Boulevard near the Exxon station where Ravindra Basdeo and Carlos Jones are later killed.

About 10:30 p.m. on Friday, December 2, 2005, Jerry Nicholson, who operated a rib stand at the Exxon station at NW 31st Avenue and Sunrise Boulevard in Fort Lauderdale, saw a car stop in the intersection. T9 1127. The car was blocking traffic and horns were honking. *Id.* Davis jumped out of the car, got on top of it, and started shooting into the air. T9 1127, 1135. Nicholson couldn't identify Davis, but shell casings in the intersection were identified as having been fired from Davis's gun. T9 1115-17, 1150, 1154. Nicholson called the police. T9 1129.

2. Myosha Proby is killed in her apartment at 4331 NW 18th Street, Lauderhill.

Shortly after Davis fired the shots in the intersection, he arrived at Myosha Proby's apartment. Hermione Harrell was at Proby's apartment T8 914, 916. Harrell was a friend of Proby and Davis (Harrell dated Davis once). T8 914. That evening Harrell and Proby watched a movie and ate dinner. T9 917. Harrell was going out later so she took a shower. T9 918. When Harrell got out of the shower,

¹ Friends had also stopped by earlier, and they brought cocaine-laced marijuana, which Harrell smoked. T8 938.

Proby looked upset. *Id.* Proby told Harrell that she called Davis and that he was upset about something. *Id.* Proby called Davis and let Harrell listen in. *Id.* Harrell heard Davis yelling at someone and heard him say, "come out." *Id.* Harrell testified that Proby was mouthing words to her as she was on the phone with Davis. T8 920. Over hearsay objection, Harrell testified, "He told her, she repeated, he's going to come kill me." *Id.* (This issue is raised in <u>Point IX.</u>) Harrell told Proby she should call the police. T8 919. But Proby didn't call the police.

Harrell tried to call Davis, but he didn't answer. T9 920. Harrell sent him a text message, "Sorry for disturbing you, this is your homegirl Tish, call me when you get this message." *Id.* Fifteen minutes later Davis arrived. *Id.* Jason Rolle, who was at the apartment complex visiting his cousin, saw Davis park his car. T8 910. Davis left his car running and his music blasting. T8 910. (Asked if that was unusual in light of what happened, Rolle said, "I mean, if someone is coming to commit a crime, why would they blast the music[?]" *Id.*) Davis was bleeding from his nose and mouth. T8 902. Rolle said Davis looked like he had been in a fight and was angry ("he looked pissed off") T8 912. Rolle also said Davis "had a serious face, like he was in the army or something." T8 902, 906. Davis was carrying an AR-15 rifle in one hand and an extra clip in the other. T8 911. He walked upstairs to Proby's apartment and knocked on the door. T9 921.

Proby answered the door and let Davis in. T8 922, 938. Harrell said he began yelling at Proby, "You set me up, you set me up." T8 922, 938. Proby said, "That wasn't my brother." T8 923. Davis said, "I know," and then repeatedly said, "You set me up." *Id.* According to Harrell, Davis was a little unsteady on his feet and "looked like he was smoking or drinking, or on something. I've never seen him like that, even the times that I've seen him." *Id.* Harrell said Davis was acting both "like he was crazy" and like he was on something. T8 943.² Although Harrell was seated nearby, Davis paid no attention to her. T8 940-41.

Davis told Proby "to get the 'f' down." T8 924. Harrell testified that "[w]hen he told her to get the 'f' down, she got on her knees, she folded her arms, and he just started shooting her." *Id.* Proby collapsed. T8 925. Davis got on the coffee table and shot down on her. *Id.* Harrell ran outside and jumped over the second floor balcony as Davis continued to shoot. *Id.*

The medical examiner said Proby had 23 bullet wounds, from the back of her head, down her back, to her buttocks area. T10 1194. He said that the shot to

² On cross-examination, Harrell testified that Davis sold cocaine, but she'd never seen him use it; nor had she heard him speak of using it. T8 936. She didn't smell alcohol on him. T8 942.

her head was likely the first shot and that it would have killed her instantly.³ T10 1209-11, 1215-16.

3. Ravindra Basdeo and Carlos Jones are killed at the Exxon Gas Station at NW 31st and Sunrise.

After the Proby shooting, Davis drove to the Exxon station. T9 1130. Nicholson's sister, Farrah Cyprien, saw a man (Davis, though she couldn't identify him) walk up to a silver car, tap on the window, and say, "Y'all don't me, y'all don't me." T8 1001, 1006. Shortly afterward she heard some shooting, followed by more shooting. T8 1001. When she returned she saw that the man in the silver car (Ravindra Basdeo) was dead. T8 1001.

Christian Gaines saw Davis pull into the gas station and park his car. T11 1272. Davis got out and stood by his car for a short time; he was playing his music very loudly. T11 1273-74. Davis walked toward a car; Gaines heard angry voices or an argument, and then he heard what sounded like a gunshot. T11 1274-75. Davis then walked toward the front of the station as Carlos Jones was coming out. T11 1276-77. At this point Gaines could hear sirens. T11 1278, 1282. Gaines saw

³ The medical examiner based his opinion on the difference in angle between the head wound and the other wounds. T10 1215-16. The state conceded in its sentencing memorandum that Proby was shot first in the head. R5 712. The court found in mitigation that Proby was rendered unconscious immediately. R5 803.

⁴ The medical examiner testified that Basdeo had a single gunshot wound to the head. T10 1183.

Jones lay down and Davis shoot him.⁵ T11 1277-78. Davis walked to his car and left. T11 1279. The police were arriving as Davis was leaving. T11 1280.

Gaines's girlfriend, Ebony Deadwyler, testified that Davis angrily yelled at the man in the silver car (Basdeo) and then shot him. T11 1286. After that Davis looked around the parking lot and approached Jones, who was coming out of the station. T11 1287. Jones backed up then got down on the ground. *Id.* Davis shot him. *Id.* Davis stood there for a moment, then walked to his car and left. *Id.*

John Diggs was in his truck when he saw Davis arrive. T12 Diggs was acquainted with Davis from a stabbing that occurred at Piper High School. T12 1524. Diggs knew the victim's mother, and, though Diggs did not know this, Davis was a witness to the stabbing. T12 1525.

Diggs saw Davis shoot Basdeo. T12 1509. Diggs tried to lean back in his seat so Davis would not see him, but Davis came up to him and said something to the effect of, "somebody played him out, or somebody done him wrong." T12 1511. About this time, Jones walked out of the store, apparently unaware of the shooting. *Id.* According to Diggs, Davis put his arm around Jones and told him to get on the ground or he would kill him. T12 1512. By now Diggs could hear the

⁵ The medical examiner testified that Jones had gunshot wounds to his head, back, and hand. T10 1181. Both Basdeo and Jones were killed instantly. T10 1204-05.

police sirens. T12 1513, 1522. Jones got on the ground and Davis shot him. T12 1513. Davis walked to his car and sped away. T12 1517, 1524.

4. Davis is arrested at Sunrise and the Turnpike.

Officers Kerri Hagerty and Jeffrey Jenkins were the first officers to see Davis's car after the Exxon shootings. T10 1220; T13 1605-06. They were dispatched to a report of a man hanging out of a car waving a gun around. T10 1219; T13 1603. At Northwest 31st Avenue and Sunrise, they saw Davis heading eastbound on Sunrise and hanging out of his car. T10 1219. When they got on Sunrise, a motorist pulled up and said Davis was now heading westbound. T10 1221. They turned around and caught up with him. T10 1222.

Davis pulled into a parking lot, made a u-turn, and then drove towards their patrol car. *Id.* Jenkins put the car in reverse to avoid a collision. *Id.* Instead of leaving, Davis stopped his car and got out. *Id.* Jenkins and Haggerty ordered him to the ground at gun point. T10 1223; T13 1606. Davis ignored these commands. Instead, while looking at Hagerty, who was wearing her diamond earrings, Davis yelled, "I ain't got my fucking earrings on," which Hagerty testified was a "pretty disjointed statement." T10 1224, 1239. Davis got back in his car and fled west on Sunrise. T10 1225; T13 1607.

Davis ran a red light, went up on the sidewalk at one point, and ran cars off the road. T10 1225; T13 1619-20. At Sunrise and the Turnpike, Davis abruptly

stopped, threw the keys out the window, and opened the door. T7 851; T10 1226; T13 1607. He didn't get out, however; officers had to physically remove him. T10 1226; T13 1609. Davis struggled, and it took several officers to subdue him. T7 852. In the process, he was tasered seven times. T10 1241; T12 1539.

Davis's mother and father arrived at the scene. T13 1641; T15 1871. Davis's father asked Detective Carmody if he could speak to Davis. T15 1871. Carmody said that Davis had to be taken to the hospital but that he would call them when he got to the sheriff's office. T15 1871-72.

The AR-15 rifle and a 30-round clip were found in the car. T10 1231; T13 1625-28. There was a baggy of cocaine rock in the ashtray (but nothing in the car to smoke it with). T12 1477, 1490; T13 1632-33.

5. Davis's behavior when arrested.

Sergeant Bigwood said Davis would "go from being somewhat compliant and quiet, to yelling, to kicking, to spitting, to back to quiet. The behavior was just kind of erratic and all over the place." T7 852. Officers Bellerose, Hagerty, and Jenkins said Davis appeared to be either under the influence of drugs or mentally

⁶ Davis bought the rifle on November 30, 2005, from Randy Redick, Jr., when Redick mentioned it was for sale. T7 880; T8 885. Redick had known Davis for three years and he said Davis was polite, respectful, and not an excitable person. T8 894-95. Redick said he had never seen Davis use drugs, and that it would have been out of character for Davis to do so. Redick was very surprised when he found out what Davis had done. T8 895.

ill. T10 1229, 1241; T13 1630, 1636-37. Officer Levy said that judging by Davis's behavior it was possible he was mentally ill or psychotic. T10 1257. Davis would go from yelling and screaming to laughing. T12 1552-53. Davis both talked about God and said he was God, and yelled, "Jesus is great," or words to that effect. T12 1553-56. Officer Connor testified that Davis was rambling on in a "religious type overtone," that Davis said something to the effect that he was directed do to this and that Jesus would forgive him. T13 1643, 1650. Davis also said, "Hand me my AR-15 and a bullet and I will kill you all" and "Stand in front of me and I will put a bullet in your face." T13 1644. Officer Hagerty testified that Davis said, "Give me another bullet, bitch, I'll put it between your eyes." T10 1229-30.

Davis was taken to the hospital at 1:08 a.m. and to the Broward Sheriff's Office at 3:41 a.m. T13 1646. At the hospital Davis refused any treatment that involved puncturing his skin (shot, blood draw, stitches, etc.). T15 1882; T17 2213-14. (Davis told Carmody that he was a Rastafarian. R15 1875. Dr. Butts, the state's rebuttal witness, testified that Rastafarians will refuse medical treatment that punctures the skin. R17 2214.) Carmody said the only behavior of Davis that he found peculiar was that Davis called him "captain" and he said at one point that he was on a mission. T15 1878.

6. Davis and his parents are secretly videotaped at the Broward Sheriff's Office.

When lead detective Frank Ilarazza learned that Davis would be brought to the Sheriff's Office, he set up hidden audio and video equipment in one of the rooms. T13 1698, 1705. Davis was brought into the room at 3:55 a.m. T13 1699. Ilarazza had already turned on the video. T13 1699. Over defense objection, the DVD recording was introduced as state's exhibit 44 and played for the jury. T13 1700. (Davis moved to suppress the DVD. This issue is raised in Point II.) Defense counsel also objected to the jury using a state-prepared transcript (exh. 44A) while they watched the DVD (this issue is raised in Point III). The court instructed the jury that the DVD was in evidence but the transcript was not; if the transcript was inaccurate, the jury was to rely on the DVD. T13 1705-06.

The DVD begins with Davis in handcuffs; his clothes were collected, and his picture was taken. T13 1707, 1717; exh. 44: 9:10. Davis asked for water and Carmody said he would get him a big cup or a bottle. T14 1737; exh 44: 11:53. Davis said, "Refill it. You know you got to refill your vessel." *Id.* Carmody got Davis a bottle of water at 4:10 a.m. Exh 44: 17:00. Carmody left Davis alone for 15 minutes. Exh 44: 17:26-32:20. When Carmody returned, he asked Davis, "Still home, Man?" Davis said, "You know I can't go to sleep, Cap. Got to watch the watcher." T14 1738.

At 4:25 a.m. Carmody got some biographical information from Davis: he was born August 21, 1984, and was 21 years old. T14 1740; exh 44: 33:07. He

graduated from high school in 2003. T13 1742. At 4:30 a.m., Detective Ilarraza entered the room. Exh 44: 36:00. Ilarraza asked Davis where he was born (Brooklyn) and whether he knew who the President and Vice-President were (Davis did). T14 1744, 1765.

Ilarazza and Carmody left the room at 4:40 a.m.,⁷ and Davis was largely left alone until his parents arrived at 6:18 a.m. T15 1780.

When Davis's parents arrived, Carmody said he was going to close the door, and he told them to knock when they wanted him. Exh 44: 1:36:37; T15 1780; ST 284. Davis's mother asked Davis if he knew who they were (Davis identified his mother but called his father the "King"). T15 1780. Asked what happened, Davis said, "God put me out there to subtract somebody." T15 1783; exh 44: 1:38:26. Davis's mother said, "God don't tell you to do that, thou shalt not kill, God don't tell you to do that, Junior." T15 1783. Davis said, "Big sister (unintelligible), she betray me, so I murdered her." *Id.* Asked about the two men, Davis said, "Time for me to sit up on the thrown [sic]." T15 1784-85. Davis's parents asked him what throne. T15 1785. Davis said, "The [throne], the big, where the big king come

⁷ Davis invoked his right to counsel and silence between 4:35 a.m. and 4:40 a.m., and the court ordered this portion deleted from the DVD. T11 1411. But as explained in <u>Point I</u>, the state did not successfully eliminate from the DVD all references to Davis's invocation of rights.

⁸ Davis's parents were from Jamaica, and Davis spent some of his formative years there. On the DVD their speech is a mixture of Jamaican Patois and English.

(unintelligible), the (unintelligible) prince." T15 1785. Davis's father said, "You can't be talking to law enforcement people like that...." T15 1785; exh 44 1:40:23. When Davis continued in this vein, Davis's father asked, "Do you know who I am?" T15 1785.

Davis's father asked Davis what happened that got him arrested. T15 1786. Davis said he was on a mission. T15 1786; exh 44 1:40:00. Asked why he killed, he said, "I'm following a mission." T15 1787; exh 44 1:42:39. Asked why his face was swollen, Davis said he was fighting "some dudes." T15 1788.

Davis's mother asked him, "What you take, you take some kind of drug, Junior? You smoke? What you do?" T15 1789-90; ST 293-94; exh. 44: 1:43:55. Davis can be heard (and seen) on the DVD saying, "drugs" (as if the notion were distasteful), and then said, "Come on, Man [or mom], I don't (unintelligible)." *Id*. Davis's mother took this answer to be a denial because she then asked, "So what are you thinking?" *Id*.

When Davis asked his mother, "What kind of person do you know me to be?" this exchange followed:

"MRS. DAVIS: Me know you to be a goodhearted boy, grow up in a church.

"RALSTON DAVIS: Follow the scripture.

"MRS. DAVIS: Teach, we teach you about the love of the Lord.

"RALSTON DAVIS: Following the scripts.

"MRS. DAVIS: That's the kind of son.

"RALSTON DAVIS: And I follow the scripts.

"MRS. DAVIS: No, but there's a part in it that say thou shalt not kill.

"RALSTON DAVIS: So (unintelligible), David and King Solomon?

"MRS. DAVIS: No, you cannot be like them, this is not David and King Solomon time.

"RALSTON DAVIS: Of course not, this 2005.

"MRS. DAVIS: That's right. And in David and King Solomon time, them do not -- they understand they cannot do it. There's a law, there's a law that say thou shalt not kill.

"RALSTON DAVIS: (Unintelligible) the laws?

"MRS. DAVIS: The law of God.

"RALSTON DAVIS: Uh-huh. The law of God and the law (unintelligible). Anytime I (unintelligible) looking, I can tell who they is, Man, who mean me no good, Man. [T15 1790-91]

Davis's mother asked Davis why he was shooting. T15 1792. Davis answered, "How you know it's not necessary for [God]?" T15 1792; exh. 44: 1:45:50. Davis's mother said again that God said, "vengeance is mine, I will repay" T15 1794. Davis said he didn't shoot anyone. When his mother said he just said he did, Davis then denied saying that he hadn't. T15 1794-95.

Davis's mother wanted Davis to take a blood test to find out what was wrong with him. T15 1795. Davis said they wanted to take his blood at the hospital. T15 1796.

Davis said he had \$2000 and that it was taken by the police. T15 1797-98. This led to a discussion about Davis getting tasered. T15 1798.

"RALSTON DAVIS: They Tase me three times for safety. If it had dawned on me, got me all -- me use to read the newspaper (unintelligible), the boys got Tased, them are dead.

"MRS. DAVIS: Uh-huh.

"RALSTON DAVIS: 'Cause me look at the newspaper.

"MRS. DAVIS: And was concerned?

"RALSTON DAVIS: I look at the newspaper and it say everybody who dead from a Taser (unintelligible) cocaine abuse (unintelligible), so all of them who dead used -- they used to abuse cocaine. Foolishness. But you know what -

"MRS. DAVIS: Uh-huh.

"RALSTON DAVIS: -- it might be right, that's why (unintelligible), 'cause I have cocaine in my system, that's why they Tase me three times, I mean, I shake it off like this. And then -- I mean, you know something, you know how me know (unintelligible), you know how me know so right now, 'cause when me down upon the ground and they Tasing me, I mean, I start to say everything, and then me say, oh man, it's him, it's him." [T15 1798-99.⁹]

Davis said something about going crazy. T15 1799. Davis's mother said, "So what are you then, you're not mad, but you're crazy?" Davis said, "Oh, me just need to go to the house of the lord." *Id*. Davis's mother said they begged him to go to church. T15 1800. Davis's mother said, "You can't be there now, they got you." *Id*. Davis said, "Who got me? Jesus?" *Id*.

Davis asked his father if he killed anyone when he was in the army. T15 1800-01. Davis's father said he had not. T15 1801. Davis asked who he got it from, "Uncle Benny? . . . Raul?" *Id*. Davis's father asked, "Where you get what from?" *Id*. Davis said, "The instincts." *Id*.

⁹ This is, of course, the court reporter's attempt at transcribing what was said. As argued in <u>Point III</u>, what Davis actually said, and the accuracy of the state-prepared transcript (exhibit 44A), was in dispute.

At this point, Davis's speech became disjointed and incomprehensible. He said, for example:

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