IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC10-135

#### RALSTON DAVIS

## APPELLANT

VS.

## STATE OF FLORIDA

#### APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

.....

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0066631 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

**Issue I** - The DVD, State's Exhibit 44, does not contain the portion of his interview where he invoked his right to remain silent, although it contains a statement where Davis is told that his rights will be explained. This portion was not played in open court and defense counsel admitted he had not viewed the entire DVD. Hence the issue is unpreserved. If the merits are jury was given the DVD to reached, the view, during deliberation. However, there is no evidence the jury viewed this portion of the DVD. Further, even if it were viewed, there was no error as the portion included is not a comment on Davis' rights or one fairly susceptible of being a comment on his rights. Alternately, advising the jury Davis would be read his rights, even if deemed error, is harmless.

**Issue II** - The motion to suppress the DVD showing Davis' conversation with his parents was proper as Davis had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the police interrogation room, the police did not foster any expectation of privacy, and Davis' parents were not used as agents of the police. However, even if the DVD should have been suppressed, such was harmless.

**Issue III** - The transcript of the DVD was utilized properly as a demonstrative aid. It was properly authenticated and the jury was given the correct instruction.

Issue IV - The CCP finding is supported by competent,

substantial evidence. However, if it should not have been found, such is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

**Issue V** - The HAC finding is supported by competent, substantial evidence. However, if it should not have been found, such is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue VI - The sentence is proportional.

**Issue VII** - Proby's statement that Davis was coming to kill her was admitted properly as Harrell heard this and Proby was relating it to her as it was being said by Davis. However, if it should have been excluded, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

**Issue VIII** - The court did not abuse its discretion in permitting mental health expert, Dr. Butts, to testify about the implications of Davis' behavior in jail as observed and testified to by his original attorney, Dorothy Ferraro.

**Issue IX** - The defense objections claiming the prosecutor's penalty phase cross-examination of Davis was argumentative, were overruled properly; the court did not abuse its discretion.

**Issue X** - The trial court followed the law and correctly denied Davis' request for a special instruction and verdict form requiring jury to find unanimously each aggravating factors beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

# NO COMMENT WAS MADE ON DAVIS' RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT (restated)

Davis claims it was error for the jury to view the DVD of State's Exhibit 44 during deliberations as it contained the detective's notification to Davis that he was going to read him his rights and Davis could decide what to do. This issue is not preserved, but even if it were, there is no evidence the jury viewed this portion of the DVD and even if it were viewed, it is not fairly susceptible of being considered a comment on Davis' right to remain silent.

Pre-trial, the parties agreed to have Davis' invocation of rights removed from the DVD. At trial, great pains were taken to ensure that the portion where the rights were discussed were removed from the DVD. (RR.vl 11-13; RT.vl3 1566-68, 1658-69, 1701-03, 1725; RT.vl4 1726-1732, 1734, 1753-54, 1777-79). A copy of the redacted tape was provided to counsel before it was entered into evidence. In court, the parties reviewed the DVD to ensure that the invocation of rights had been removed and later the prosecutor confirmed in open court that such was done and that the portion that was to be redacted had been redacted. (ROA.vl4 1752-54)

The DVD was played for the jury which shows that the rights portion was removed.

RALSTON DAVIS: Nah. We used to call Illinois. [referring to telemarketing calls]

Det. Carmody: Did you?

RALSTON DAVIS: That's what made me think, I used to wonder was it real, the script we was reading, it said -- hey, I stuck to the script, that's it, I stuck to the script.

Det. Carmody: That was it? So whatever they -- whatever they told you to read that's what you read?

Ralston Davis: A job is a job.

DET CARMODY: All right.

RALSTON DAVIS: More water.

DET CARMODY: Yep.

DET. ILARRAZA: You got plenty there. Just chill out.

(RTv14 1758-59). This was about 42 minutes into the DVD played for the jury and then the DVD, based on the clock on the interview room wall, moved instantaneously forward from 4:35 AM to 4:40 AM. (SRTv7 392-93). Later during the playing of the DVD for the jury, it was noted that the DVD has skipped back to a period before Davis was given his <u>Miranda<sup>5</sup></u> warnings and the prosecutor moved the DVD forward to the point where Davis' parents enter the interrogation room. (RTv15 1778).

Prior to deliberations, the DVD was misplaced by the clerk,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

but eventually found. (RTv19 2448-54) The court afforded the parties the opportunity to verify that the DVD located was the exhibit. The DVD and DVD player were sent to the jury during deliberations. (RTv19 2458, 2462-69).

On appeal, Davis' request for a transcript of the DVD in evidence was granted which revealed that the following discussion was contained on the DVD:

RALSTON DAVIS: Nah. We used to call in Illinois.

Det. Carmody: Did you?

RALSTON DAVIS: That's what made me think, I used to wonder was it real, the script we was reading, it said -- hey, I stuck to the script, that's it, I stuck to the script.

Det. Carmody: That was it? So whatever they -- whatever they told you to read that's what you read?

Ralston Davis: That was my job.

DET. CARMODY: I hear you, Man.

DET. ILARRAZA: Davis --

RALSTON DAVIS: (Unintelligible)

DET. ILARRAZA: Yeah -- before we go on to talking about what happened tonight, I have to go over your rights. You know what your rights are, right, under the law?

RALSTON DAVIS: Remain silent?

DET ILARRAZA: Well, yeah. Let me go over them and then you can decide what you want to do, okay, it will be up to you.

DET CARMODY: That's it.

DET CARMODY: All right.

RALSTON DAVIS: More water, Cap.

DET. ILARRAZA: You got plenty there. Just chill out.

(SRTv3 278-79) (emphasis supplied). Based on the playing of the DVD during the relinquishment period, the reinserted portion occurred one hour, fifteen minutes and six seconds into the playing of the DVD and that the clock on the interview room wall moved from 5:16 AM back to 4:25 AM (SRTv7 395).

During the relinquishment of jurisdiction, it was determined that the DVD in evidence was the only DVD submitted the Clerk and that it contained the above referenced to comments. Defense counsel admitted he had not viewed the DVD completely. (SRv7 404-06, 408, SRv8 425-26 Order on Relinquishment of Jurisdiction dated) Now, Davis complains that the statements by Detective Ilaraza ("Ilaraza") are fairly susceptible of being a comment on his rights. This issue is not preserved because counsel had the DVD before it was played for jury and did not object. However, even if that the is overlooked, the fact that the DVD seemed to skip back to a point in time before the Miranda rights were given, counsel had the opportunity to review the DVD at that point and make his objections. The fact he did not, renders the issue unpreserved. Likewise, when the DVD was misplaced by the Clerk and when found the parties were given another opportunity to check the DVD,

defense counsel, had no objection to the DVD being sent to the jury. This issue is unpreserved under <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) (holding for issue to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention raised below, otherwise fundamental error must be proven).

Assuming arguendo this Court reaches the merits, the record reflects that there is no evidence the jury actually viewed the portion of the DVD Davis alleges is error, and without question there was no discussion or argument made before the jury. It is pure speculation that the jury saw that portion of the DVD and pure speculation the jury would conclude that it was a comment on Davis' right to remain silent. Even so, a review of the statements by Ilarraza reveals that it is not a comment on Davis' invocation of rights.

Davis points to a myriad of cases where there was questioning of witnesses or argument on the defendant's invocation of his rights. <u>See Wainwright v. Greenfield</u>, 474 U.S. 284, 289-90 (1986) (noting in closing argument "prosecutor reviewed the testimony of Officer Pilifant and Detective Jolley and suggested that respondent's repeated refusals to answer questions without first consulting an attorney demonstrated a degree of comprehension that was inconsistent with his claim of insanity."); <u>State v. Thornton</u>, 491 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 1986) (noting officer testified that after he gave Miranda rights

defendant "replied, 'yes,' that he understood, and he did not answer any questions at the initial time of arrest"); State v. Kitchen, 490 So.2d 21 (Fla. 1985) (finding codefendant's closing argument in joint trial that Kitchen did not refute the testimony of a witness that stated Kitchen admitted to being the aggressor was a comment on Kitchen's right not to testify, but remanding to district court to apply the appropriate harmless error analysis); West v. State, 553 So.2d 254 (Fla. 4th DCA) (noting I asked him if he understood his rights and he said, "Yes" he did. And, I asked him if he would answer any of my questions and--"), disapproved on other grounds, State v. Norstrom, 613 So.2d 437 (Fla. 1993); Garron v. State, 528 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1988) (noting prosecutor as "two questions: whether he believed appellant was 'coherent,' and whether appellant indicated he understood his constitutional rights. Detective Phillips answered yes to both questions."); David v. State, 369 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1979) (finding prosecutor's comment that there was no evidence and "why didn't he [defendant] say anything was comment on rights), disavowed by, Long v. State, 494 So.2d 213 (Fla. 1986) (disavowing per se reversible error standard). As that is not the situation here, those cases are inapplicable.

Davis points in particular to <u>West</u> to suggest it was fairly susceptible that the jury interpreted the DVD to be a comment on his rights as Ilarraza's statement they would go over Davis'

right and Davis could decide what to do is followed by Davis' conversation with his parents. (IB 41). The state disagrees as the detective did not state that Davis understood his rights given him or that he asked him if he would answer any questions and Davis refused. Assuming for argument's sake the jury saw this portion of the DVD, Ilarraza's statement is more akin to what revealed in <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 367 So.2d 260 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979) and <u>Holland v. State</u>, 340 So.2d 931 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1976).

The courts in <u>Thomas</u> and <u>Holland</u> found that the testimony could not reasonably be construed as a comment on the right to remain silent. In <u>Thomas</u>, the police officer testified he had asked the defendant to read the Constitutional Rights Warning Interrogation Form, to put his initials next to each right, and that the defendant complied. <u>Thomas</u>, 367 So.2d at 263. Likewise in <u>Holland</u>, the arresting officer testified that he read the defendants their rights from the card which were:

1. You have the right to remain silent and refuse to answer questions. Do you understand?

They both gave no answer.

. . .

Knowing and understanding your rights as I explained them to you, are you willing to answer my questions without an attorney present?

Holland, 340 So.2d at 932. In the instant case, Davis was advised that his rights would be read to him and he could decide

what to do. This is not a comment on his invocation of rights nor is it fairly susceptible of being construed as a comment on Davis' right to remain silent. <u>See Hall v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 1321, 1324 (Fla. 1981) (finding there was no comment on defendant's right to remain silent where officer testified he gave defend his rights and that defendant understood them).

However, if this Court determines that the comment is fairly susceptible of being construed as a comment on Davis' right to remain silent; such is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129, 1135-36 (Fla. 1986). Davis suggests that the jury could have used the comment to reject his insanity defense and the statutory mental mitigators in the penalty phase. However, davis' defense was insanity, thus, he was admitting he committed the crimes, thus, whether he spoke to the police or not did not did not impact the defense nor did it cause the jury to convict, especially given the evidence presented against him.

Harrell and Diggs, who knew Davis before the shooting, and witnessed him shoot and kill Proby, Basdeo, and Jones. Harrell testified Davis announced he was coming to kill Proby and watched as he shot her 23 times with an assault rifle while accusing her of setting him up. Diggs testified he saw Davis approach Basdeo and shoot him before accosting and shooting Jones. Davis had Basdeo open his mouth so he could shoot him

and was complaining someone "done him wrong." Jones was shot after he complied with Davis' command and got on his knees. (RTv8 916-18, 920-25; RTv12 1507-17).

Also, the forensic testimony from the medical examiner and the experts in DNA analysis and ballistics confirmed the eyewitness accounts of the shootings. (RTv9 1150-54; RTv10 1188-89, 1192-94, 1198-99, 1202-03; RTv12 1462-65, 1467-69). Harrell reported that Davis looked as though he had been smoking or drinking something based on his eyes and how he was unsteady on his feet. (RTv8 923). Davis told his parents he "murdered" Proby and Basdeo; that he was on cocaine; and to leave him alone as he was already "on the down side." (RTv15 1782-83, 1798-99, 1811, 1814-15, 1818-21, 1824-27; SRTv3 302-03, 315, 324-25; SRTv3 287, 315, 319, 325-29, 330-31) Some of the officers who came into contact with Davis that night reported that his behavior was consistent with being on a substance such as cocaine. (RTv10 1229, 1240-42, 1252-53, 1256-57, 1553-54; RTv13 1609, 1623-24, 1629-31, 1637, 1643-44, 1648-53, 1655). Crack cocaine was found in Davis' car after his arrest. (RTv12 1476-79, 1490-91; RTv13 1680-84). The fact that the DVD contains Ilarraza's statement he would read Davis his rights is harmless in light of this evidence as the jury had ample evidence to show Davis killed with premeditation while he was under the influence of cocaine, not a psychotic disorder. Likewise there is no

error in the penalty phase. No connection was drawn between the invocation and Davis' sanity or the mental mitigators. In fact, th, jury distinguished between Proby's revenge murder and those of Basdeo and Jones. Further, the trial court found the statutory mental mitigators, thus, it is clear that Ilarraz'a statement had no impact on the guilt of penalty verdicts. Even if the jury saw Ilarraz's statement to Davis, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and this Court should affirm.

#### ISSUE II

# THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE DVD OF DAVIS' CONVERSATION WITH HIS PARENTS (restated)

Davis asserts that the court erred in denying his motion to suppress his conversation with his parents while in the police interrogation room after he had invoked his right to remain silent and requested counsel. The court properly denied the motion to suppress as Davis had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the police interrogation room, the police did not foster any expectation of privacy, and Davis' parents were not used as agents of the police. Moreover, even if the conversations should have been suppressed, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

In <u>Connor v. State</u>, 803 So.2d 598, 608 (Fla. 2001), this Court set forth the standard of review for the denial of a motion to suppress stating:

[A]ppellate courts should continue to accord a presumption of correctness to the trial court's rulings on motions to suppress with regard to the trial court's determination of historical facts, but appellate courts must independently review mixed questions of law and fact that ultimately determine constitutional issues....

## See also, Welch v. State, 992 So.2d 206, 214 (Fla. 2008).

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